
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

FOR THE DISTRICT OF NEW HAMPSHIRE

Douglas T. Sharp

V.

DeutscheBank National

Trust Company/ As Trustee

For Morgan StanleyABS

Capital Inc. Trust 2006-HE3

Civil No. 14-CV-369-LM

Opinion No. 2015 DNH 155

ORDER

In a case that has been removed from the Hillsborough

County Superior Court, Douglas Sharp seeks to enjoin Deutsche

Bank National Trust Company {"Deutsche Bank") from foreclosing

on his mortgage. He claims that DeutscheBank cannot foreclose

becauseit: (1) lacks the authority to do so (Count I); and (2)

breachedthe implied covenantof good faith and fair dealing

(Count II). In addition, he seeks to amend his complaint to add

Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. ("Wells Fargo") as a defendant, and to

asserta claim that Wells Fargo and DeutscheBank violated the

Real EstateSettlementProceduresAct (RESPA), 12 U.S.C. §§

2601-2617. DeutscheBank objects to Sharp'smotion to amend as

futile and moves to dismiss his complaint for failure to state a

claim upon which relief can be granted. The court heardoral

argument on DeutscheBank's motion to dismiss on November 18,
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2014. For the reasonsthat follow, Sharp'smotion to amend is

denied, and DeutscheBank's motion to dismiss is granted.

I. Background

The facts in this sectionare drawn from Sharp'sAmended

Verified Complaint, document no. 1-1, his proposedSecond

Amended Complaint, document no. 13-2, and certain documentsthat

are attachedto those complaintsor that are appropriately-

consideredin conjunction therewith. See Foley v. Wells Fargo

Bank, N.A., 772 F.3d 63, 71-72 {1st Cir. 2014); Wattersonv.

Page, 987 F.2d 1, 3-4 (1st Cir. 1993) (describingdocuments

courts may considerwhen ruling on a motion to dismiss).

On December21, 2005, plaintiff's father, Martin Sharp,^

executeda promissorynote in favor of New Century Mortgage

Corporation ("New Century"), in exchangefor a loan of $60,000.

On the same day that Martin executedthe promissorynote, Martin

and Douglas granteda mortgage to New Century to securethe

loan. The mortgage, in turn, encumbereda property in

Goffstown, New Hampshire, that Martin and Douglas owned as joint

tenantswith the right of survivorship.

^ In this order, the court refers to plaintiff as "Sharp" or
"Douglas" and refers to his father as "Martin."



Notwithstandingthe fact that the promissorynote

identifies Martin as the sole borrower, see State Ct. R. {doc.

no. 3-1) 44 of 106, the mortgagedefines the term ^^Borrower" to

mean ''Martin F[.] Sharp, a single personand Douglas T. Sharp[,]

a married person," id. at 2 of 106. In a section titled "Joint

and SeveralLiability; Co-signers; Successorsand Assigns

Bound," the mortgageprovides, in pertinentpart:

Borrower covenantsand agreesthat Borrower's
obligations and liability shall be joint and several.
However, any Borrower who co-signs this Security
Instrument but does not executethe Note (a "co

signer"): (a) is co-signing this Security Instrument
only to mortgage, grant and convey the co-signer's
interest in the Propertyunder the terms of this
Security Instrument; (b) is not personallyobligated
to pay the sums securedby this Security Instrument;
and (c) agreesthat Lender and anyother Borrower can
agree to extend, modify, forbear or make any
accommodationswith regard to the terms of this
Security Instrumentor the Note without the co-
signer'sconsent.

Id. at 11 of 106. Additionally, in a section titled

"Acceleration; Remedies," the mortgageprovides that if the

borrower defaults, and the default is not cured in a timely

manner, "Lender at its option may require immediate payment in

full of all sums securedby this Security Instrumentwithout

further demandand may invoke the STATUTORY POWER OF SALE and

any other remediespermittedby Applicable Law." Id. at 14 of

106.



New Century has executedtwo documentspurporting to assign

the Sharps' mortgage. On December28, 2005, New Century

executeda document titled "Assignment of Mortgage," which

appearedto assignthe Sharps' mortgage to DeutscheBank ("the

2005 assignment"). Id. at 24 of 106. That document was

recordedin the Hillsborough County Registry of Deeds almost two

years later, on October 3, 2007. On February27, 2012, Wells

Fargo, acting as attorney-in-factfor New Century, executeda

seconddocumentpurporting to assignthe Sharps' mortgage to

DeutscheBank ("the 2012 assignment"). See id. at 29 of 106.

That documentwas recordedin the Hillsborough County Registry

of Deeds on March 13, 2012.

In April of 2007, after the 2005 assignmentwas executed,

but before it was recorded. New Century filed for bankruptcy

protection. In 2008, the bankruptcycourt orderedNew Century

to convey all of its assetsinto a liquidating trust.

Martin Sharp died in 2009. Sometimeafter Martin's death,

the complaint does not say when, Douglas stoppedmaking mortgage

payments. In June of 2014, DeutscheBank sent him notice of a

foreclosuresale. He respondedby sendinga letter, titled

"Request for Postponement,"to DeutscheBank's mortgage

servicer, America's Servicing Company ("ASC"). The letter

states:



I, Douglas T. Sharp, requestto postponethe trustees
sale of the property locatedat 28 Joffre St.
Goffstown, N.H. 03102, to take place on July 24, 2014,
in order to organize legal documentationas well as
loan modification or sale of the property.

SecondAm. Compl., Attach. 8 (doc. no. 13-10), at 6 of 12. In a

letter dated eight days later and addressedto Martin, ASC

stated:

We're writing to let you know that we've receivedan
inquiry from Douglas Sharp on your behalf. Since we
don't have authorizationto responddirectly to
Douglas Sharp we will be respondingto you.

We are currently reviewing the inquiry, and expect to
complete our researchand provide you with the results
on or before August 04, 2012.

Id. at 7 of 12. Four days after that, ASC wrote directly to

Douglas, explaining that he ''was able to receive certain

information for the loan but not the specific information he

requested." As the "Request for Postponement"does not include

any request for information, it is not clear what information

Sharp requestedfrom ASC.

Shortly thereafter. Sharp filed an action in the

Hillsborough County Superior Court seeking to enjoin the

foreclosuresale. Subsequently,Sharp filed an amended

complaint claiming that DeutscheBank had no authority to

foreclose on his mortgageand had violated the implied covenant

of good faith and fair dealing. On August 7, 2014, New

Hampshire Superior Court Judge Gillian Abramson issueda



temporary injunction, enjoining DeutscheBank from foreclosing

on Sharp'smortgage. DeutscheBank removed the suit to this

court thereafter, and moved to dismiss Sharp'samendedcomplaint

for failure to statea claim upon which relief can be granted.

In Septemberof 2014, Mari DeBlois of The Way Home, a

housing advocacygroup, reportedto Douglas'scounsel that she

had attemptedto obtain information about Martin's loan from ASC

on Douglas'sbehalf, but had been repeatedlyrebuffed on grounds

that she was not properly authorizedto receive such

information. In Februaryof 2015, after DeutscheBank moved to

dismiss Sharp'samendedcomplaint, but before the court ruled on

DeutscheBank's motion, Sharp sent two letters to Wells Fargo,

one styled as a "request for information" pursuantto 12 C.F.R.

§ 1024.36, the other styled as a "notice of error" pursuantto

12 C.F.R. § 1024.35.

In his request. Sharp identified six different kinds of

information he was seeking, all relatedgenerally to the topic

of assumingMartin's statusas the borrower of the loan that

Martin had received from New Century. Presumablyas a result of

a typographicalerror in Sharp'srequestfor information. Wells

Fargo construedit as a request for the identity of the owner of

the mortgage loan, and provided only that information.



In his notice of error. Sharp assertedthat ASC; (1)

violated 12 C.F.R. § 1024.35(b)(7) by telling him that he was

not entitled to receive infonnation about his father's loan and

telling DeBlois that she was not properly authorizedto receive

information about Martin's loan; and (2) violated 12 C.F.R. §

1024.35(b)(11)by telling DeBlois that she was not properly

authorizedto receive information about Martin's loan. Wells

Fargo respondedto Sharp'snotice of error by sendinghim a

four-page letter explaining its decisionnot to provide him with

information about his father's loan.

Basedupon the foregoing. Sharp now moves to amendhis

complaint to: (1) add Wells Fargo as a defendant; and (2) add a

claim for damagesunder RESPA againstWells Fargo and Deutsche

Bank arising from the responseshe receivedto his requestfor

information and his notice of error.

II. Discussion

The court begins with Sharp'smotion to amend and then

turns to DeutscheBank's motion to dismiss.

A. Motion to Amend

1. The Legal Standard

Becausethe time for Sharp to file a motion to amend as of

right under Rule 15(a)(1) of the FederalRules of Civil



Procedurehas run, the court's dispositionof his motion falls

under Rule 15(a)(2). Rule 15(a)(2) provides that a party who is

no longer able to amend the complaint as of right may amend only

with the court's leave, and that "[t]he court should freely give

leave when justice so requires." Fed. R. Civ. P. 15(a)(2).

Becausethe proposedamendmentseeksto add a new party, "the

motion is technically governedby Rule 21, which provides that

^the court may at any time, on just terms, add or drop a party.

. . ." Garcia v. PanchoVilla's of Huntington Vill., Inc., 268

F.R.D. 160, 165 (E.D.N.Y. 2010) (citations omitted). "However,

the same standardof liberality applies under either [Rule 15(a)

or 21]Id. (internal quotationmarks omitted).

The court may deny a motion to amend "for any adequate

reasonapparentfrom the record," including futility of the

proposedamendment. Todisco v. Verizon Commc'ns, Inc., 497 F.3d

95, 98 (1st Cir. 2007) (quoting ResolutionTrust Corp. v. Gold,

30 F.3d 251, 253 (1st Cir. 1994)). "In assessingfutility, the

district court must apply the standardwhich applies to motions

to dismiss under Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6)." Adorno v. Crowley

Towing & Transp. Co., 443 F.3d 122, 126 (1st Cir. 2006).

Under Rule 12(b)(6), the court must accept the factual

allegationsin the complaint as true, construereasonable

inferencesin the plaintiff's favor, and "determinewhether the



factual allegationsin the plaintiff's complaint set forth a

plausible claim upon which relief may be granted." Foley, 772

F.3d at 71 (citations and internal quotationmarks omitted). A

claim is facially plausible ''when the plaintiff pleads factual

content that allows the court to draw the reasonableinference

that the defendantis liable for the misconductalleged."

Ashcroft V. Iqbal, 556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009). Analyzing

plausibility is "a context-specifictask" in which the court

relies on its "judicial experienceand common sense." Id. at

679.

2. Analysis

In the RESPA claim that Sharp seeksto add to his

complaint, he assertsthat Wells Fargo and DeutscheBank: (1)

failed to provide him with the documentationhe asked for in his

requestfor information, in violation of 12 C.F.R. §

1024.36(d)(1);and (2) failed to correct the mistakeshe

identified in his notice of error or provide an adequate

explanationof their belief that no mistake had been made, in

violation of 12 C.F.R. § 1024,35(e)(1)(i). DeutscheBank argues

that Sharp'smotion to amend should be denied on grounds of

futility becauseSharp lacks standing to bring the claim he

seeks to assert. Sharp lacks standing, according to Deutsche

Bank, becausehe was not a borrower on the loan that was secured



by the mortgage that he and his father granted to New Century.

The court agrees.

The claim that plaintiff seeksto add is basedupon several

different provisions in RESPA's regulations. Those provisions

describethe duties owed by mortgage loan servicersto

"borrowers." 12 C.F.R. §§ 1024.35(e) (1) (i) & 1024.36(d)(1).

RESPA itself also speaksof the duties owed by loan servicersto

borrowers. See^ e.g., 12 U.S.C. §§ 2605(e)(1)(A) & (2). And,

when those duties are breached,RESPA establishesthat a

violator is liable to a borrower. See 12 U.S.C. § 2605(f). The

statuteand the regulationson which Sharp baseshis claim speak

of duties owed by mortgage loan servicersto borrowers but say

nothing about duties owed to mortgagors. Neither RESPA nor its

regulationsdefine the term "borrower." While a statutoiry

definition of the term "borrower" would certainly make it easier

for the court to determinewhether Sharp has standing to bring a

RESPA claim, there is ample judicial authority on that point.

In a recent caseout of the EasternDistrict of California,

the court construedthe RESPA provisions at issue here. Singh

V. Wells Fargo Bank N.A., No. CIV 2:ll-cv-0401-GEB-JFM (PS),

2011 WL 2118889 (E.D. Cal. May 27, 2011), report and

recommendationadoptedby 2011 WL 2785492 (E.D. Cal. July 11,

2011). In Singh, the plaintiff and his wife owned a parcel of

10



real property as joint tenants. Id. at *1. The plaintiff's

wife was the sole borrower on a loan that was securedby a

mortgageon the couple'sproperty, and the mortgage listed both

the plaintiff and his wife as borrowers. See id. The plaintiff

sued the mortgageein multiple counts, including one under

RESPA. See id. at *2. Magistrate Judge Moulds recommended

dismissal of the RESPA claim for failure to satisfy Rule 8(a)(1)

of the FederalRules of Civil Procedure. See id. at *3. He

also addressedthe plaintiff's RESPA claim substantively. See

id. After pointing out that the complaint suggestedthat it

might have been brought under either 12 U.S.C. § 2605 or 12

U.S.C. § 2607, he had this to say:

Regardlessof the particular section [of RESPA]
identified by plaintiff, the RESPA claim must fail
becausehe is not a borrower on the loan. See, e.g.,
Wilson V. JPMorganChase Bank, N.A., [No. CIV. 2:09-
863 WBS GGH,] 2010 WL 2574032 (E.D. Cal. [June 25,]
2010). Insofar as plaintiff contendsthere were RESPA
violations at the time of the origination of the loan,
plaintiff lacks standingas he did not sign the
PromissoryNote. See id. To the extent plaintiff
argues that he submitteda QWR [qualified written
request] to Wells Fargo, Wells Fargo only had the duty
to respondto QWRs sent "from the borrower"—in this
case, [the plaintiff's wife]. Wells Fargo was under
no obligation to respondto any requestssent by
plaintiff. See 12 U.S.C. § 2605(e)(1)(A).

Id. at *4. Basedupon the foregoing, the court determinedthat

the plaintiff's RESPA claim failed as a matter of law. See id.

11



Wilson involved a RESPA claim againsta mortgage loan

servicer for failing to respondto the plaintiff's request for

information pursuantto 12 C.F.R, § 1024.36. See 2010 WL

2574032, at *9. In Wilson, the plaintiff and her husband

mortgageda property they owned jointly to securea loan that

was made to the plaintiff's husbandalone. See id. at *1. The

plaintiff's RESPA claim was basedupon a qualified written

request {"QWR") 2 she submittedto the lender and the mortgage

loan servicer. See id. At some point before the plaintiff

filed suit her husbanddied. Judge Shubb dismissedthe RESPA

claim this way:

Plaintiff's RESPA claims must fail becauseshe

explicitly alleges that she was "not a borrower of the
loan." Under RESPA, a serviceronly has the duty to
respondto QWRs sent "from the borrower," and
accordingly defendantwas under no obligation to
respondto plaintiff's QWR. See 12 U.S.C. §
2605(e)(1)(A). Accordingly, plaintiff cannot recover
for defendant'sfailure to respondto her improper
QWR.

Id. (citation to the record omitted).

Here, while Sharp points out that he was named as a

borrower in the mortgage, he does not allege that he was a

borrower on the loan and, indeed, the promissorynote does not

bear his signature. Thus, with regard to his relationshipto

2 "Qualified written request" is a statutory term for an
inquiry from a borrower to a mortgage loan servicer. See 12
U.S.C. § 2605(e)(1)(B).

12



the loan that was securedby the mortgageon his property, Sharp

standsin the same position as the plaintiffs in Singh and

Wilson. Sharp has identified no judicial authority running

counter to Singh and Wilson, and the court has been unable to

locate any. Accordingly, the court concludesthat Sharp lacks

standingto asserta claim under 12 U.S.C. § 2605(f) basedupon

Wells Fargo's responsesto his request for information and his

notice of error.^ Becausehe lacks standing, his motion to amend

must be deniedon grounds of futility.

The court notes, however, that while plaintiff's RESPA

claim arisesunder 12 U.S.C. § 2605(f) and its related

regulations, i.e., 12 C.F.R. §§ 1024.35 & 1024.36, his reply

brief directs the court's attention to another regulation that.

3 At first blush. Sharp'sargument for standingbasedupon
his being listed as a borrower in the mortgagehas some appeal.
But the appeal is erodedby the mortgage itself, which
distinguishesbetweenmortgagorssuch as Martin, who assumean
obligation to repay a loan by executinga promissorynote, and
mortgagorssuch as Douglas, who do not. Given that Martin
executedthe note on the same day that he and Douglas executed
the mortgage, one could reasonablyinfer that Martin and Douglas
made a consciousdecision to protect Douglas from personal
liability on the note. By extendingvarious rights and
protectionsto "borrowers" rather than "mortgagors" in RESPA,
Congressappearsto have limited the coverageof the provisions
of RESPA on which Sharp baseshis claim to the subsetof
mortgagorswho, like Martin, both pledgedsecurity and faced
personal liability for the repaymentof a loan. Under that view
of RESPA, forgoing the protectionsof that statuteis the price
a mortgagorpays for avoiding personal liability on a note.

13



in his view, establisheshis standing. That regulation

provides:

(a) Reasonablepolicies and procedures. A
servicershall maintain policies and proceduresthat
are reasonablydesignedto achieve the objectivesset
forth in paragraph(b) of this section.

(b) Objectives—(1) Accessingand providing timely
and accurateinformation. The policies and procedures
requiredby paragraph(a) of this section shall be
reasonablydesignedto ensurethat the servicercan:

(vi) Upon notification of the death of a
borrower, promptly identify and facilitate
commvinicationwith the successorin interestof the

deceasedborrower with respectto the property secured
by the deceasedborrower'smortgage loan.

12 C.F.R. § 1024.38 (emphasisin original). For the purposesof

§ 1024.38, Sharp qualifies as a successorin interest to Martin.

See ConsumerFin. Prot. Bureau, Bulletin 2013-12, Implementation

Guidance for Certain Mortgage Servicing Rules, 2013 WL 9001249,

at n.7 (2013). Notwithstandinghis failure to cite §

1024.38(b)(iv) in his SecondAmended Complaint, Sharp argues

that he "is protectedby, and entitled to enforce, this

regulation." Pl.'s Reply Br. (doc. no. 16) 4. The court does

not agree.

Nothing in § 1024.38 suggeststhat RESPA createsa private

right of action to enforce that rule. And, indeed, it does not.

14



As the ConsumerFinancial ProtectionBureau explainedin its

official interpretationof § 1024.38;

Ultimately, the Bureau agreeswith the commentersthat
allowing a private right of action for the provisions
that set forth general servicing policies, procedures,
and requirementswould createsignificant litigation
risk. . . .

The Bureau believes that supervisionand enforcement
by the Bureau and other Federal regulators for
compliancewith and violations of § 1024.38
respectively, would provide robust consumerprotection
without subjectingservicersto the same litigation
risk and concomitantcompliancecosts as civil
liability for assertedviolations of § 1024,38. . . .

Therefore, the Bureau is restructuringthe final rule
so that it neither provides private liability for
violations of § 1024.38 nor contains a safe harbor
limiting liability to situationswhere there is a
patternor practiceof violations.

Mortgage Servicing Rules Under the Real EstateSettlement

ProceduresAct {Regulation X), 78 Fed. Reg. 10696, 10778-79

(Feb. 14, 2013). Basedupon the foregoing, the court is

compelled to conclude that while Sharp is protectedby

§ 1024.38(b)(iv), he has no private right of action against

defendantsto enforce that rule. Moreover, Sharp'sstatusas a

successorin interest for the purposesof § 1024.38 does not

make him a borrower for the purposesof §§ 1024.35 and 1024.36.

For all of these reasons.Sharp'smotion to amendmust be

denied.

15



B. Motion to Dismiss

Sharp claims that DeutscheBank lacks the authority to

foreclose on his mortgage {Count I), and that it violated the

covenantof good faith and fair dealing (Count II). Deutsche

Bank moves to dismiss both counts for failure to state a claim

upon which relief may be granted. The court addresseseach

count in turn.

1. Count I - Authority to Foreclose

Sharp first claims that DeutscheBank lacks the authority

to foreclose becauseit cannot demonstratethat it is an

assigneeof his mortgage, as requiredby N.H. Rev. Stat. Ann.

(^^RSA") § 479:25. That is so, Sharp contends, becauseneither

the 2005 assignmentnor the 2012 assignmentwas legally

effective. He argues that the 2005 assignmentis invalid

becauseit was not recordeduntil after New Century had filed

for bankruptcy. He argues that the 2012 assignmentis invalid

becauseit was neither executednor recordeduntil after New

Century filed for bankruptcy.'^ DeutscheBank contendsthat Sharp

^ At the November 18th hearing. Sharp suggestedthat the
assignmentdocument was invalid. However, he did not dispute
the validity of the document in his complaint, and has not
sought leave to amend his complaint to include such a claim.
Thus, any such allegation is deemedwaived. See Iverson v. City
of Bos., 452 F.3d 94, 103 (1st Cir. 2006).

16



has failed to statea claim becausethere is no requirementthat

an assignmentbe recorded.

Sharp is correct that the power of sale incorporatedinto a

mortgagemay be exercisedonly by "the mortgageeor his

assignee." RSA 479:25. In his complaint, Sharp alleges that

New Century assignedhis mortgage to DeutscheBank in 2005, and

he attacheda copy of the 2005 assignmentto his complaint.

Thus, according to the complaint, DeutscheBank was the

assignee. Pursuantto RSA 479:25, therefore, DeutscheBank had

the authority to exercisethe power of sale in the mortgage.

Sharp arguesthat DeutscheBank lacked the authority to

foreclose due to its untimely recording of the assignment.

However, a recent decision from New HampshireSuperior Court

Judge Marguerite Wageling holds that "[n]othing in RSA 479:25

requires the mortgagee [to] record the mortgageor assignmentof

the mortgage in order to trigger the statutorypower of sale."

Fuller V. Fed. Nat'l Mortg. Ass'n, No. 218-2011-cv-00668,2012

N.H, Super. LEXIS 55, at *9 (N.H. Super. Ct. Oct. 2, 2012).

Sharp has identified no authority to the contrary. Under New

Hampshire law, an assigneeof a mortgage thereforehas the right

to exercisethe statutorypower of sale without the assignment

having been recorded. Thus, the timing of DeutscheBank's

recording of the assignmenthas no bearing on its statusas an

17



assigneeor its authority to foreclose. Accordingly, the

factual allegationsunderpinningCount I do not "set forth a

plausible claim upon which relief may be granted." Foley, 772

F.3d at 71. For that reason, Count I is dismissed.

2. Count II - Good Faith and Fair Dealing

Sharp claims that DeutscheBank breachedthe covenantof

good faith and fair dealing implied in his mortgageagreementby

"refus[ing] to deal with, or even acknowledge, Mr. Douglas

Sharp, and refus[ing] to voluntarily postponethe foreclosure

sale." Notice of Removal, Attach. 1 (doc. no. 1-1) K 34.

DeutscheBank respondsthat exercisingits bargained-forright

to foreclose following default does not amount to a breachof

the covenantof good faith and fair dealing. The court agrees.

In New Hampshire, every agreementincludes "an implied

covenant that the partieswill act in good faith and fairly with

one another." Birch Broad., Inc. v. Capitol Broad. Corp., 161

N.H. 192, 198 (2010) (citing Livingston v. 18 Mile Point Drive,

Ltd., 158 N.H. 619, 624 (2009)). The New Hampshire Supreme

Court has observedthat:

there is not merely one rule of implied good-faith
duty, but a seriesof doctrines, each of which serves
a different function. The various implied good-faith
obligations fall into three general categories: (1)
contract formation; (2) termination of at-will
employment agreements;and (3) limitation of
discretion in contractualperformance.

18



Id. {citations omitted). Like many similarly situated

plaintiffs, Sharp understandshis claim to fall within the third

categoryof casesdescribedin Birch, which involves limits on

the discretiona party may exercisewhen performing its

contractualobligations. See Rouleauv. U.S. Bank, N.A., No.

14-CV-568-JL, 2015 WL 1757104, at *3 (D.N.H. Apr. 17, 2015);

Moore v. Mortq. Elec. RegistrationSys., Inc., 848 F. Supp. 2d

107, 127 (D.N.H. 2012) . The function of that category ''is to

prohibit behavior inconsistentwith the parties' agreed-upon

common purposeand justified expectationsas well as with common

standardsof decency, fairness and reasonableness."Birch

Broad., Inc. v. Capitol Broad. Corp., 161 N.H. 192, 198 (2010)

(citing Livingston v. 18 Mile Point Drive, Ltd., 158 N.H. 619,

624 (2009)).

Here, the mortgageexpresslyprovides that, in the event

Sharp defaults on the mortgage, DeutscheBank may exercisethe

statutorypower of sale. State Ct. R. (doc. no. 3-1) 14 of 106.

Thus, DeutscheBank's exerciseof that right is consistentwith

the parties' "agreed-uponcommon purposeand justified

expectations. . . Id. As such, it cannot serve as the

basis for a claim for breachof the implied covenantof good

faith and fair dealing. S^ Rouleau, 2015 WL 1757104, at *5 ("a

party does not breachthe duty of good faith and fair dealing

19



simply by invoking a specific, limited right that is expressly

grantedby an enforceablecontract"); see also Moore, 848 F.

Supp. 2d at 129 ("the mere fact that some or all of the

defendantsexercisedtheir contractualright to foreclose on the

Moores after they defaultedon their mortgagepaymentsdoes not

amount to a breachof the implied covenant") (citations

omitted). Accordingly, Count II does not state a claim on which

relief can be granted.

III. Conclusion

For the reasonsdetailedabove. Sharp'smotion to amend,

document no. 13, is denied, and DeutscheBank's motion to

dismiss, document no. 4, is granted. The injunction issuedby

Judge Gillian Abramson on August 7, 2014 is hereby dissolved.

The clerk of the court shall close the case.

SO ORDERED.

LandyatMcGaMerty
United StaH^s District Judge

August 11, 2015

cc: StephanieAnne Bray, Esq.
Michael R. Stanley, Esq.
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